A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The convictions for robbery and taking a motor vehicle

violate the Fifth Amendment prohibition on double jeopardy.

2. The State failed to prove each alternative means of

witness tampering.

3. The State presented insufficient evidence to prove the

comparability of a prior Oregon conviction for inclusion in Mr.

Ralph's offender score.

4. The sentencing court erred in imposing discretionary

costs and fees.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Although the State may bring, and the factfinder may

consider, multiple charges arising from the same conduct, courts

may not enter multiple convictions for the same offense without

violating double jeopardy. Appellant Guy Ralph was convicted of

both robbery and taking a motor vehicle based on evidence that he

punched the victim in the face and took his truck. Must the

conviction for taking a motor vehicle be vacated?

2. Where multiple alternative means of committing a crime

are submitted to the jury, the State must present sufficient evidence

to prove each means beyond a reasonable doubt. Otherwise, the
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conviction must be reversed. In this case, two alternative means of

committing witness tampering were presented to the jury, but the

State failed to prove one alternative means. Where there was no

unanimity instruction and no special verdict form indicating the jury

convicted only based on the proven means, must the witness

tampering conviction be reversed and remanded for a new trial?

3. Under the Sentencing Reform Act and the Due Process

Clause, the State bears the burden of proving the comparability of

an out -of -state conviction by a preponderance of the evidence.

Here, the State presented evidence of an Oregon conviction for

unauthorized use of a vehicle, but the Oregon statute is broader

than Washington's taking a motor vehicle statute, and the State did

not present evidence that Mr. Ralph admitted the facts necessary to

find the conduct fell within Washington's statute or that those facts

were proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. Did the

sentencing court err in including the Oregon conviction in Mr.

Ralph's offender score?

4. Courts may not impose costs on defendants unless they

have a present or future ability to pay. Here, the court imposed

discretionary costs and fees upon Mr. Ralph, without making either

an oral or written finding that he had the present or future ability to
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pay, and even though the evidence showed Mr. Ralph has no

assets or income and,, as his attorney said, "is the very definition of

indigency." Did the sentencing court err in ordering Mr. Ralph to

pay discretionary fees and costs?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Guy Ralph helped Leroy Hampton move a

truckload of belongings to his new home. 7/19/11 RP 34 -35.

According to Mr. Hampton, after they dropped the items off at the

new house and started driving away, Mr. Ralph told him to "pull

over or he would beat his face in." 7/19/11 RP 36. After Mr.

Hampton pulled over and the two got out of the truck, Mr. Ralph

punched Mr. Hampton and took his truck. 7/19/11 RP 38.

Mr. Ralph was arrested and booked into jail. He wrote a

letter to his sister asking her to have a friend write a letter to the

defense attorney saying Mr. Hampton dropped him off at her house

on the day in question. CP 98 -99.

The State charged Mr. Ralph with second- degree robbery,

second - degree taking a motor vehicle, third - degree theft, and

witness tampering. GP 92 -93. Both the robbery and taking a motor

vehicle charge were based on the conduct described above. The

theft charge was based on an allegation that in addition to taking
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the truck, Mr. Ralph took other items belonging to Mr. Hampton.

7/20/11 RP 130 -31. However, the jury acquitted Mr. Ralph on the

theft count. CP 48.

At sentencing, the. State "concede[d] that the likelihood is the

robbery and the taking of motor vehicle would merge for purposes

of sentencing since he was found not guilty of theft third." 8/1/11

RP 4. Mr. Ralph said, "there's no question that the merger of the

robbery and car theft is appropriate." 8/1/11 RP 5. The court

nevertheless entered convictions for both robbery and taking a

motor vehicle, and sentenced him for both crimes. CP 7, 10.

At sentencing, Mr. 'Raiph objected to the inclusion of an

Oregon conviction for unauthorized use of a vehicle in his offender

score, pointing out that he was charged under a prong that does

not exist in the relevant Washington statute. 8/1/11 RP 10 -11. The

court counted the conviction anyway, and sentenced Mr. Ralph to

concurrent terms of 50 months for robbery, 26 months for taking a

motor vehicle, and 33 months for witness tampering. CP 10.

When the court asked about imposing discretionary costs

and fees, Mr. Ralph's attorney said, "my client is indigent.... my

client is the very definition of indigency. No assets, no income.

He's clearly indigent. 8/1/11 RP 19. The court nevertheless

4



imposed discretionary sheriff's and attorney's fees in addition to the

mandatory assessments. CP 13.

Mr. Ralph appeals. CP 6.

D. ARGUMENT

1. The convictions for robbery and taking a motor
vehicle violate double jeopardy.

The jury found Mr. Ralph took the victim's truck by use of

force. For this single incident, Mr. Ralph was convicted of both

robbery and taking a motor vehicle. The two convictions violate Mr.

Ralph's Fifth Amendment right to be free from double jeopardy,

requiring vacation of the conviction for taking a motor vehicle.

a. A.defendant'sright to be free from double
jeopardy is violated if he is convicted of two
offenses that are identical in fact and law

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution

provides, "No person .shall <.: be subject for the same offense to be

twice put in jeopardy of life or limb...." U.S. Const. amend. V.

Similarly, article I, section 9 of our state constitution provides, "No

person shall be ... twice put in jeopardy for the same offense."

Const. art. I, § 9. These clauses protect defendants against

prosecution oppression." State v. Womac 160 Wn.2d 643, 650,



160 P.3d 40 (2007) (quoting 5 Wayne R. LaFave, Jerold H. Israel &

Nancy J. King, Criminal Procedure § 25.1(b), at 630 (2d ed. 1999)).

To determine whether multiple convictions violate double

jeopardy, Washington courts apply the "same evidence" test. State

v. Calle 125 Wn.2d 769, 777, 888 P.2d 155 (1995) (citing

Blockburger v. United States 284 U.S. 299, 304, 76 L.Ed. 306, 52

S.Ct. 180 (1932)). Under that test, absent clear legislative intent to

the contrary, a defendant's double jeopardy rights are violated if he

is convicted of offenses that are identical both in fact and in law.

Id.; State v. Freeman 153 Wn.2d 765, 777, 108 P.3d 753 (2005).

In other words, two convictions violate double jeopardy when the

evidence required to support a conviction on one charge would

have been sufficient to warrant a conviction upon the other.

Freeman 153 Wn.2d at 772 (citing State y. Reiff 14 Wash. 664,

667 45 P. 318 (1896)). Courts evaluate the elements "as charged

and proved, not merely as the level of an abstract articulation of the

elements." Freeman 153 Wn.2d at 777.

Although the State may bring, and the factfinder may

consider, multiple charges arising from the same conduct, courts

may not enter multiple convictions for the same offense without

violating double jeopardy. Id. at 770. The double jeopardy clause
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bars multiple convictions arising out of the same act even if

concurrent sentences. have been imposed. Rutledge 517 U.S. at

302; Calle 125 Wn.2d at 775. Where two convictions violate

double jeopardy, the court must vacate the conviction on the lesser

offense. Womac 160 Wn.2d at 656; State v. Weber 159 Wn.2d

252, 266, 149 P.3d 646 (2006). "To assure that double jeopardy

proscriptions are carefully observed, a judgment and sentence

must not include any reference to the vacated conviction." State v.

Turner 169 Wn.2d 448, 464, 238 P.3d 461 (2010).

This Court reviews de novo the question of whether multiple

convictions violate double jeopardy. State v. Hughes 166 Wn.2d

675, 681; 212 P.3d 558 (2009).

b. The robbery and taking a motor vehicle
convictions are. identical in fact and law

because the jury twice convicted Mr. Ralph of
taking the victim's truck by use of force

Neither the robbery statute nor the taking a motor vehicle

statute expressly authorizes :multiple convictions for a single act.

RCW 9A.56..1.90; RCW 9A.56.075. Accordingly, the two

convictions violate double jeopardy because they are identical in

fact and law. See Hu hes, .166 Wn.2d at 682. The robbery statute

provides, in relevant part: -

7



A person commits robbery when he or she unlawfully
takes personal property from the person of another or
in his or her presence. against his or her will by the
use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or
fear of injury to that person or his or her property or
the person or property of anyone.

RCW 9A.56.190. The'taking a motor vehicle statute provides, in

relevant part:

A person is guilty of taking a motor vehicle without
permission in the second degree if he or she, without
the permission of the owner or person entitled to
possession, intentionally takes or drives away any
automobile or motor vehicle, whether propelled by
steam, electricity, or internal combustion engine, that
is the property of another....

RCW 9A.56.075(1).

In this case, the jury convicted Mr. Ralph of robbery for

taking the victim's truck by the use of force. The jury also convicted

Mr. Ralph of taking a motor vehicle for taking the victim's truck. In

other words, the latter crime was a subset of the former. Because

the taking of the truck was already punished as an essential

element of the crime of robbery, the additional conviction for taking

a motor vehicle violates the Fifth Amendment prohibition on double

jeopardy. See Harris v. Oklahoma 433 U.S. 682, 97 S.Ct. 2912,

53 L.Ed.2d 1054 (1977) (convictions for robbery and felony murder

predicated on robbery violated double jeopardy); Turner 169
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Wn.2d at 452 (convictions for first - degree robbery and second-

degree assault for same act of force violated double jeopardy).

c. The remedy is vacation of the conviction for
taking a motor vehicle

W]hen faced with multiple convictions for the same

conduct, courts s̀hould enter a judgment on the greater offense

only and sentence the defendant on that charge without reference

to the verdict on the lesser offense. "' Turner 169 Wn.2d at 463

quoting State v. Trujillo 112 Wn. App. 390, 393, 49 P.3d 935

2002)). Mr. Ralph's conviction for taking a motor vehicle must be

vacated and.stricken from the judgment and sentence. Id.; Womac

160 Wn.2d at 656. This is necessary even though the sentences

are concurrent because the conviction itself has potential adverse

collateral consequences. Id. at 657 (citing Ball v. United States

470 U.S. 856, 865 105 S.Ct. 1668, 84 L.Ed.2d 740 (1985)).

Accordingly, Mr. Ralph asks this Court to remand with instructions

to vacate the conviction on count two by striking it from the

judgment and sentence.



2. The conviction for witness tampering should be
reversed because the State failed to prove each
alternative means presented to the jury.

a. The State must prove evey alternative means
presented to the juror

The State bears the burden of proving each element of the

crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. Apprendi v. New

Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490,120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435

2000); In re Winship 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d

368 (1970). A criminal defendant's fundamental right to due

process is violated when a conviction is based upon insufficient

evidence. Id.; U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3; City of

Seattle v. Slack 113 Wn.2d 850, 859, 784 P.2d 494 (1989).

In an alternative means case, where a single offense may

be committed in more than one way, there must be jury unanimity

as to guilt for the single crime charged." State v. Kitchen 110

Wn.2d 403, 410, 756 P.2d 105 (1988). Although unanimity is not

required as to the means by which the crime was committed,

substantial evidence must support each alternative means

presented to the jury. 1d. "In reviewing an alternative means case,

the court must determine whether a rational trier of fact could have

found each means of committing the crime proved beyond a
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reasonable doubt." Id..at 410 -11. "[If] the. evidence is insufficient to

present a jury question as to whether the defendant committed the

crime by any one of the means submitted to the jury, the conviction

will not be affirmed : Statev..Ortega Martinez 124 Wn.2d 702, 708,

881 P.2d 231 (1994) (emphasis added).

b. A new trial should be granted because the
State failed to prove Mr. Ralph attempted to
induce a person to withhold information from a
law enforcement agency but this alternative
means was presented to the jury

Witness tampering is an alternative means crime. RCW

9A.72.120(1); State v. Lobe 140 Wn. App. 897, 902 -03, 167 P. 3d

627 (2007). In this case, the jury was instructed on two of the

alternative means: (1) attempting to induce a person to testify

falsely, and (2) attempting to induce a person to withhold

information from a law enforcement agency. CP 74. The State

argued to the jury that Mr. Ralph committed both alternative means.

7/20/11 RP 131, 150.

However, the State presented insufficient evidence to prove

the second alternative means, attempting to induce a person to

withhold information from a law enforcement agency. The State

introduced into evidence 'a letter Mr. Ralph wrote to his sister in

which he asked her to ask Emily Beadle to write a statement saying

11



that on the morning of the 27 of February Leroy Hampton picked

me and Denise up around 1AM and dropped us off around 4AM."

CP 98. He directed that the statement be sent to his lawyer. CP

99. This letter constitutes sufficient evidence of witness tampering

by attempting to induce a person to testify falsely, but insufficient

evidence of attempting to induce a person to withhold information

from a law enforcement agency. Because insufficient evidence

was presented on one of the alternative means presented to the

jury, reversal is required. Ortega Martinez 124 Wn.2d at 708;

Lobe 140 Wn. App. at 906 -07.

Other cases are instructive. In Fernandez for example, the

defendants were convicted of operating a drug house. State v.

Fernandez 89 Wn. App. 292, 294, 948 P.2d 872 (1997). The

statute at issue provided.

It is unlawful for any person ... knowingly to keep or
maintain any ... dwelling ... which is resorted to by
persons using controlled substances in violation of
this chapter for the purpose of using these
substances, or which is used for keeping or selling
them in violation of this chapter.

Id. at 299 (citing RCW 69.50.402(a)(6)). In other words, there were

two alternative means of committing the crime: maintaining a

dwelling (1) where people use drugs, or (2) to sell or store drugs.

12



Id. at 300. The State did notèlect.ameans, so even though there

was sufficient evidence to find the defendants maintained a house

to sell or store drugs, this Court reversed the convictions because

there was insufficient evidence to support a finding that drug users

resorted to the house for the purpose of using drugs. Id. This

Court concluded:

The State did not elect between the alternative
means, and the general verdict form does not reveal
which prong the jury used to convict. Because it may
have convicted the defendants under the unsupported
prong, we must reverse the defendants' convictions
and remand for retrial on the drug house charges.

Id. The same is true here. 'The State did not elect between the

alternative means, and the general verdict form does not reveal

Which prong the jury used to convict. Because it may have

convicted Mr. Ralph on the unsupported prong, the conviction

should be reversed and the case remanded for retrial on the

tampering charge. Id.

In Mau in, the defendant was convicted of first - degree

felony murder where the underlying felonies charged were

kidnapping, rape, or attempted rape. State v. Maupin 63 Wn. App.

887, 822 P.2d 355 (1992). This Court reversed the conviction

because although the State -.had presented sufficient evidence of

13



the kidnapping predicate, it failed to present sufficient evidence of

rape. Id. Because there was insufficient evidence of rape, the trial

court erred in instructing the jury on that alternative means. Id. at

893 -94.

This Court granted a new trial because even though no

evidence was presented of sexual intercourse, this Court could not

be sure the jury's verdict rested only on the kidnapping alternative

and not on the rape alternative. Id. at 894. This Court noted that

the problem could have been prevented by either not instructing the

jury on the rape alternatives or by providing a special verdict form

for the jury to delineatet̀he bases on which it found the defendant

guilty. Id. But because thejury was instructed on the unproven

alternative means and - was provided only a general verdict form, a

new trial was required. Id.

Similary here, the State failed to prove Mr. Ralph committed

witness tampering by inducing 6 person to withhold information

from law enforcement, but because the jury was instructed on the

unproven alternative means and was provided only a general

verdict form, a new trial is required. Id. On remand, only the false

testimony alternative may be presented to the jury. Fernandez 89

Wn. App. at 300.
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3. The sentencing court erred in calculating the
offender score, requiring remand for
resentencing.

Over Mr. Ralph's objections, the sentencing court included

an incomparable out -of -state conviction in Mr. Ralph's offender

score. The sentence should be vacated and the case remanded for

resentencing.

a. The State bears the. burden of proving a
defendant's offender score by a
preponderance of the evidence

The Sentencing Reform Act ( "SRA ") creates a grid of

standard sentencing ranges calculated according to the

seriousness level of the crime in question and the defendant's

offender score. RCW9.94A.505, .510, .520, .525; State v. Ford

137 Wn.2d 472, 479, 973 F.2d 452 (1999). The offender score is

the sum of points accrued as a result of prior convictions. RCW

9.94A.525. This Court reviews de novo the sentencing court's

calculation of the offender score. State v. Rivers 130 Wn. App.

689, 699, 128 P.3d 608 (2005).

Out -of -state convictions for offenses shall be classified

according to the comparable offense definitions and sentences

provided by Washington law." RCW9.94A.525(3). The State

bears the burden of proving the existence and comparability of a

15



defendant's out -of -state convictions. State v. Lopez 147 Wn.2d

515, 521 -23, 55 P.3d 609 (2002).

Washington courts apply a two -part test to determine

whether the State has-satisfied the burden as to comparability.

State v. Morlev 134 Wn.2d 1588, 605 -06, 952 P.2d 167 (1998).

First, the elements of the out -of -state crime must be compared to

the relevant Washington crime. In re Lavern 154 Wn.2d 249, 255,

111 P.3d 837 (2005). If the elements are comparable, the

defendant's out -of -state conviction is legally equivalent to a

Washington conviction. Id. at 254.

But where the elements of the out -of -state crime are different

or broader, the State must 'prove that the defendant's underlying

conduct; as evidenced by the undisputed facts in the record,

violates the comparable Washington statute. Lavern 154 Wn.2d at

255; Morlev 134 Wn.2d at 606. Even if the State presents

additional evidence of conduct beyond the judgment and sentence,

the elements of the charged crime must remain the cornerstone of

the comparison. Facts or allegations contained in the record, if not

directly related to the elements of the charged crime, may not have

been sufficiently proven at trial." Lavery 154 Wn.2d at 255

quoting Morlev 134 Wn.2d at 606).
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b. The State failed to prove Mr. Ralph's Oregon
conviction for unauthorized use of a vehicle is

comparable to the Washington crime of taking
a motor vehicle: accordingly, the Oregon
conviction should not have been counted in the

offender score

The Oregon crime of unauthorized use of a vehicle is not

legally comparable to Washington's crime of taking a motor vehicle.

State v. Jackson 129 Wn. App. 95, 107 -08, 117 P.3d 1182 (2005).

The Oregon statute provides:

1) A person commits the crime of unauthorized use of
a vehicle when:

a) The person takes, operates, exercises control
over, rides in or otherwise uses another's vehicle,
boat or aircraft without consent of the owner;

b) Having custody of a vehicle, boat or aircraft
pursuant to an agreement between the person or
another and the owner thereof whereby the person or
another is to perform for compensation a specific
service for the owner involving the maintenance,
repair or use of such vehicle, boat or aircraft, the
person intentionally uses or operates it, without
consent of the owner, for the person's own purpose in
a manner constituting a gross deviation from the
agreed purpose; or

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