COUNTER STATEMENT OF ISSUES

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

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE

Are Robbery and Taking a Motor Vehicle Without Permission
sufficiently differentiated in law so they do not become "the same
offence" for Double Jeopardy analysis?

RESPONSE: U.S. Const. Arndt 5 and Wa.Const. art 1

section 9 are not implicated because Robbery has . numerous
elements not contained in Taking a Motor Vehicle Without
Permission and Taking a Motor Vehicle Without Permission can be
proved without proving an element of Robber

The Double Jeopardy Clause provides that no person shall

be subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life

or limb." U.S. Const., Arndt. 5. United States v. Dixon, 509 U.S.

688, 696, 113 S.Ct. 2849, 2854, 125 L.Ed.2d 556 (1993). In part II

of Justice Scalia's opinion (with concurrence by four justices), the

United States Supreme Court affirmed what is commonly known as

the "Blockburger test," from Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S.

299, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed.2d 306 (1932). The Court stated at 509

U.S. 696, 113 S.Ct. 2856:

The same - elements test, sometimes referred to as the
Blockburger" test, inquires whether each offense contains
an element not contained in the other; if not, they are the
same offense" and double jeopardy bars additional

punishment and successive prosecution.

1



In part IV of the opinion, a majority of the Court overruled Grady v.

Corbin, 495 U.S. 508, 110 S.Ct. 2084, 109 L.Ed.2d 548 (1990), a

recent United States Supreme Court pronouncement that added a

same conduct" analysis to the determination about whether Double

Jeopardy had occurred. The Grady opinion had held at page 495

U.S., 510, 110 S.Ct. 2087 that double jeopardy was violated "if, to

establish an essential element of an offense charged in that

prosecution, the government will prove conduct that constitutes an

offense for which the defendant has already been prosecuted," a

second prosecution may not be had. Dixon, 509 U.S. at 697, 113

S.Ct. at 2856. Justice Scalia stated the definition of what

constitutes "the same offence" has historically focused on " the

same elements." Adding a second definition to "the same offence"

that includes "the same conduct" is not part of established double

jeopardy analysis. Pursuant to United States Supreme Court

interpretations of the United States Constitution, then, the

Blockburger "same elements" test is controlling.

Article 1, section 9 of the Washington State Constitution

reads "No person shall be compelled in any criminal case to give

evidence against himself, or be twice put in jeopardy for the same

10



offense." Both the state and federal constitution are interpreted in

the same manner, relying, for the most part, on language from

Blockburger. State v. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d 765, 108 P.3d 753

2005) provides a textbook procedure to determine whether a

double jeopardy violation has occurred. The four steps are

summarized in State v. Mandanas, 163 Wn.App. 712, 718, 262

P.3d 522, 525 (2011): First, the court looks at each statute's

language to determine if separate punishments are specifically

authorized. Here, neither statute contains any information about

separate punishment; neither statute refers to the other.

Second, the court reviews whether the two crimes involve

the "same evidence." The federal test comes from Blockburger.

The same - elements test, sometime referred to as the

Blockburger" test, inquires whether each offense contains
an element not contained in the other; if not, they are the
same offence" and double jeopardy bars additional

punishment and successive prosecution.

United States v. Dixon, supra, 509 U.S. at 696, 113 S. Ct. 2856.

The test in Washington State first arose in State v. Reiff, 14

Wn. 664, 667, 45 P. 318 (1896):

Double jeopardy is violated when] "'the evidence required to
support a conviction [ of one crime] would have been

sufficient to warrant a conviction upon the other "'.

Under either test, the analysis is the same: Look at the elements

11



of each offense and see whether the elements are such that proof

of one is proof of the other.

The jury was instructed that robbery in the second degree

contained the following pertinent elements:

1) That on or about February 27, 2011, the Defendant

unlawfully took personal property from the person or in the

presence of another;

2) That the Defendant intended to commit theft of the property;

3) That the taking was against that person's will by the

Defendant's use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or

fear of injury to that person; [and]

4) That force or fear was used by the Defendant to obtain or

retain possession of the property or to prevent or overcome

resistance to the taking. CP64

The jury was instructed that taking a motor vehicle without

permission contained the following pertinent elements:

1) That on or about February 27, 2011, the Defendant took or

drove away a motor vehicle without permission of the owner or

person entitled to possession;

2) That the Defendant was acting intentionally; [and]

3) That the motor vehicle was the property of another. CP 66.

12



The elements of the two crimes are not the same. The

same evidence would not lead to a conviction for both crimes.

Robbery requires the defendant commit theft of personal property.

Taking a motor vehicle only requires the defendant take or drive

away a motor vehicle. That statute does not require proof that the

intended to retain possession of the vehicle. Conversely, a person

can be convicted of taking a motor vehicle without permission by

merely intentionally moving it. The State need not show a person

who took a motor vehicle intended to commit theft. Each crime

has an element the other crime does not include.

The jury was also instructed about the legal definition of

theft:

Theft means to wrongfully obtain or exert
unauthorized control over the property or services of

another, or the value thereof, with intent to deprive that
person of such property or services. CP 70

Robbery requires the theft be by use or threatened use of

immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to the victim. Taking a

motor vehicle does not require force. The State need only show

the taking was without permission.

Robbery requires the force or violence to a part of the theft.

Taking a motor vehicle can be accomplished without force.

13



It appears the two statutes compare at only two points: A

vehicle is property and both crimes must be intentional.

Otherwise, there is no comparison. To meet the Blockburger test,

each provision must require proof of a fact which the other does

not. In re the Personal Restraint of Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 871

100 P.3d 291 (2004). To meet the Reiff test, the evidence required

to support a conviction must be sufficient to support a conviction

upon the other charge. Both tests are met; there are at least three

elements in robbery that are not in taking a motor vehicle (theft, use

of force, and force used to obtain property). Taking a motor

vehicle does not require proof of theft; it can be proven by showing

the defendant did not have permission to drive the victim's vehicle.

Third, there is no evidence the legislature intended the two

statutes to merge:

Under the merger doctrine, when the degree of one offense
is raised by conduct separately criminalized by the

legislature, we presume the legislature intended to punish
both offenses through a greater sentence for the greater
crime.

Freeman, 153 Wn.2d 773, 108 P.3d 757, citing to State v.

Vladovic, 99 Wn.2d 413, 419, 662 P.2d 853 (1983). Vladovic

explained that merger occurs when the legislature enacts statutes

that increase the punishment for a crime by using a second crime

14



as an element of the first crime. Citing to State v. Johnson, 92

Wn.2d 671, 600 P.2d 1249 (1979), Vladovic explained that the

penalty for rape increased by degrees based upon an underlying

offense; first degree rape required proof of conduct constituting at

least one additional crime.

Merger is not applicable here. Robbery in the second

degree is merely robbery.

Mr. Ralph points out that the State admitted that robbery and

taking a motor vehicle "merged." As Vladovic stated at 99 Wn.2d

419, fn. 3, the term "merger" is used in several different contexts.

The State was discussing "same criminal conduct" for purposes of

sentencing. See RCW 9.94A.589 (1)(a), where offenses count as

one under the same criminal conduct rule if they require the same

criminal intent, are committed at the same time, and involve the

same victim. The "slang" for the term "same criminal conduct" is

merge." The tenor of the sentencing proceedings showed this

meaning; both the defense counsel and the Judge used the term

merge" as the State had used it. Had the State meant "merge" in

the sense the term was used in Vladovic, the Court would have

3

RCW 9A.56.210 (1) A person is guilty of robbery in the second degree if he or she
commits robbery.

15



followed the procedure outlined in State v. Womac, 160 Wn.2d 643,

160 P.3d 40 (2007) (when conviction of more than one crime

creates double jeopardy, the court must vacate the conflicting

convictions).

Fourth, each statute has an independent purpose, although

there is some overlap in purposes. Theft of a Motor Vehicle does

not require either theft or violence. Its purpose is to criminalize

driving off with another person's vehicle. Robbery is intended to

criminalize theft by the use of force. The two statutes have an

independent purpose. There is no double jeopardy problem. This

Court should affirm both convictions.

ISSUE TWO

Are attempting to " induce a person to testify falsely" and
withhold from a law enforcement agency information in any official
proceeding" separate alternatives requiring the State to present
evidence about both alternatives?

RESPONSE: " Attempting to induce a person to testify falsely" and
attempting to induce a person to withhold information from a law
enforcement agency" are two halves of the same alternative. Case

law shows that proof of the first half proves the second half, also.

Mr. Ralph contends the State erred because it proved he

attempted to induce a person to testify falsely but failed to provide

evidence he attempted to induce a person to withhold information

from a law enforcement agency. There is no error.

16



The jury was instructed as follows:

A person commits the crime of TAMPERING WITH A
WITNESS when he or she attempts to induce a witness or
person he or she has reason to believe is about to be called
as a witness in any official proceeding, or a person whom he
or she has reason to believe may have information relevant
to a criminal investigation to testify falsely. CP 73.

In the "to convict" instruction, however, the State included

the second half of the first alternative:

1) That during the period of time from on or about March
278, 2011, to on or about May 6, 2011, the Defendant
attempted to induce a person to testify falsely or withhold
from a law enforcement agency information which he or she
had relevant to a criminal investigation [ ]. CP 74

State v. Lode, 140 Wn.App. 487, 902 -3, 167 P.3d 627, 630

2007) reads:

There are three alternative means of committing
witness tampering — attempting to induce a person to (1)
testify falsely or withhold testimony, (2) absent him- or her-
self from an official proceeding, or (3) withhold information
from a law enforcement agency.

According to Ralph, the State did not prove the second one-

half of the first alternative because he sees "testifying falsely" as

different from "withholding testimony."

Lode does not support Mr. Ralph's argument. It holds there

are three alternatives, not four. The first alternative is " testify

falsely or withhold testimony." It is not two alternatives but

17



opposite sides of the same coin. Thus, Lode stands for the

proposition that each one -half of the first alternative are opposite

sides of the same coin: to testify falsely is to withhold (truthful)

information.

Other reported decisions support the State's argument. In

State v. Bankston, 99 Wn.App. 266, 269 -70, 992 P.2d 1041 (2000),

albeit in dicta, the Court states:

Similar to intimidating a witness, witness tampering
involves attempting to change or withhold a witness's

testimony and thus interfering with the court's fact- finding
process.

The gravamen of the first alternative, then, is to induce a

witness to provide false information rather than true information.

State v, Victoria, 150 Wn.App. 63, 67 -8, 206 P.3d 694

2009), stated the issue in this manner:

A witness who does not have a right or privilege to
refrain from testifying in a criminal proceeding has a legal
obligation to do so truthfully and fully. This obligation can be
a heavy burden. By making truthful testimony obligatory, the
law removes the element of individual choice from the
witness's testimony. Efforts to tamper with a witness,
however, exert undue pressure on the witness that the
obligatory nature of testimony otherwise eliminates.

The analysis here shows again that truth and falsity are the

opposites postulated in the first alternative. A person who is

obligated to testify must testify truthfully, not falsely.



State v. Lubers, 81 Wn.App. 614, 622, 915 P.2d 1157 (1996)

reads the same. The opinion reads:

The witness tampering statute requires that Lubers
induce a "witness" or a a person "about to be called as a
witness" to give false testimony or withhold testimony."

Again, the Luber court analyzes the two halves of the first

alternatives as the same conduct, from opposite points of view.

The actual language of the first alternative from RCW 9A.72.120

reads: "(a) Testify falsely or, without right or privilege to do so, to

withhold any testimony[.]" As Lubers pointed out, withholding

testimony is the same as testifying falsely. As Victoria made clear,

a witness is expected to testify unless excused by right or privilege.

A witness must testify truthfully. The first alternative does not

contain two separate proof issues. The State proved the crime

with which it charged Mr. Ralph. There is no error.

ISSUE THREE

Are the Oregon statute about unauthorized use of vehicles
and the Washington statute about taking a motor vehicle without
permission sufficiently comparable to permit the State to introduce
the prior conviction for sentencing purposes?

RESPONSE: Pursuant to State v. Jackson, the matter must be

remanded to Ciailam County for further proceedings

Mr. Ralph is correct that the State bears the burden to show

a foreign conviction is comparable to a Washington statute for
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purposes of sentencing. Mr. Ralph is also correct that State v.

Lavery, 154 Wn.2d 249, 111 P.3d 837 (2005) is controlling. Lavery

cited to State v. Morley, 134 Wn.2d 588, 952 P.2d 167 (1998) to

show there are two methods the State can follow to introduce a

foreign conviction. First, the court compares the elements of the

out -of -state crime with the comparable Washington crime. If the

elements are comparable, the sentencing court counts the

defendant's out -of -state conviction as an equivalent Washington

conviction. Lavery, 154 Wn.2d at 254. If the elements of the out -of-

state crime are different or broader, the sentencing court examines

the defendant's conduct as evidenced by the undisputed facts in

the record to determine whether the conduct violates the

comparable Washington statute. Morley, 134 Wn.2d 606; Lavery,

154 Wn.2d at 255. The Court also held that a sentencing court

can engage in limited fact finding to determine comparability, but

cautioned that "[a]ny attempt to examine the underlying facts of a

foreign conviction, facts that were neither admitted or stipulated to,

nor proved to the finder of fact beyond a reasonable doubt in the

foreign conviction, proves problematic." Lavery, 154 Wn.2d at 258.

State v. Jackson, 129 Wn.App. 95, 117 P.3d 1182 (2005),

held that the Oregon and Washington statutes were almost
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comparable but that the Oregon statute covered "a broader range

of activity than the Washington statute[.] Id. at p. 107. Jackson

further developed that "[w]here the disputed issues have been fully

argued to the lower court at sentencing, the State is held to the

existing record [ ] without allowing further evidence[.]" Id. at 105.

In Mr. Ralph's case, the only complaint he raised regarded the

statutory language. He did not indicate he did not engage in

conduct that would be a violation of the Washington statute. The

State believes the evidence already points toward conduct that

would be a violation of the Washington statute, but agrees remand

is appropriate to address the second prong of Morley.

ISSUE FOUR

Did the Trial Court err when it entered LFOs without making
a finding that Mr. Ralph could pay them?

RESPONSE: There was no need for the Court to make a finding

because Mr. Ralph himself stated he usually worked as a logger or
fisherman.

The State does not believe the standard established in State

v. Betrand, 165 Wn.App. 353, 267 P.3d 511 ( 2011) requires

remand to review his ability to pay fines and costs because the

issue is his ability to pay the LFOs in January 2014. State v.

Baldwin, 63 Wn.App. 303, 312, 818 P.2d 1116, 837 P.2d 646
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1991) requires only a record sufficient to review whether the Trial

Court took into account the financial resources of the defendant

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